

Public Education: Religious Rights and Values in Idaho Schools

Pacific Justice Institute

PROTECTING FAITH, FAMILY, AND FREEDOM

Pacific Justice Institute P.O. Box 276600 Sacramento, CA 95827 916-857-6900 www.pji.org

September 2021

Table of Contents

An Open Letter to Parents, Teachers, Administrators, and School Boards	1
PART I: STUDENTS' RIGHTS	2
I. Equal protection for religious expression in public schools	2
II. Equal access to school facilities	2
A. The Equal Access Act	2
 The EAA's terms	5
B. Idaho law	7
III. Students have a right to start religious clubs on campus	7
IV. Students can share their faith on campus1	0
A. Right to use religious material1	0
B. Right to speak during non-instruction time about a religious topic	2

V. Students can pray on campus.	12
VI. Students take their religious texts on campus A. Taking a religious text to school for use during non-curricular times	
B. Taking a Bible to school for use during class time	14
VII. Students can write papers and speak on religious topics as class assignments	16
VIII. Students may include religious messages in speeches delivered at school-sponsored events	17
IX. Public schools and their students can acknowledge and celebrate religious holidays	
X. Release time	19
PART II: PARENTS' RIGHTS	21
I. Constitutional rights of parents under the U.S. and Idaho constitutions	21
II. Access to student records and information	23
A. FERPA	23
B. Other federal laws	24
PART III: EXEMPTIONS	26
CONCLUSION	29

An Open Letter to Parents, Teachers, Administrators, and School Boards

Pacific Justice Institute is dedicated to the protection of religious freedom, parental rights, and other civil liberties. Since the beginning of our organization in 1997, we have assisted thousands of parents, students, teachers, and school administrators with a wide range of issues involving civil rights in public education.

As someone concerned with the public school system, you may have questions about how the religious freedom rights of students relate to the so-called "separation of church and state." Or you may be interested in what rights parents have with respect to their child's education. This booklet will provide you with important information on critical issues confronting public education today. From religious clubs to immunization exemptions, from prayer on campus to tolerance of students' political and religious beliefs in the classroom, we have designed this resource to clarify the important legal rights and responsibilities of parents, students, teachers, and school administrators in public education.

If you have any questions about the information presented in this booklet, or would like to receive legal assistance, please do not hesitate to contact the Pacific Justice Institute at (916) 857-6900.

Sincerely,

Brad Dacus, President

Brad Dace

PART I: STUDENTS' RIGHTS

I. Equal protection for religious expression in public schools

The U.S. Constitution and Idaho Constitution both provide equal protection for students to express their religion in public schools. The state of Idaho provides no statutory provisions specifically, but the Idaho Constitution echoes the religious protections provided by federal law.

According to the Idaho Constitution, "all men are by nature free and equal, and have certain inalienable rights, among which are enjoying and defending life and liberty; acquiring, possessing and protecting property; pursuing happiness and securing safety." ¹

II. Equal access to school facilities

Both federal and Idaho law provide religious groups with equal access to school facilities as secular groups.

A. The Equal Access Act

The federal Equal Access Act ("EAA"), 20 U.S.C. §§ 4071-74, provides that it is "unlawful for any for any *public secondary school* which receives federal financial assistance and which has a *limited open forum* to deny equal access . . . to . . . any students who wish to conduct a meeting within that limited open forum on the basis of the religious . . . content of the speech at such meetings." A "limited open forum" is created "whenever such school grants an offering to or opportunity for one or more non curriculum related student groups to meet on school premises during noninstructional time." The EAA does not violate the

1

¹ Idaho Const. art. I, § 1.

² 20 U.S.C. § 4071(a) (emphasis added).

³ 20 U.S.C. § 4071(b); *Bd. of Educ. v. Mergens*, 496 U.S. 226 (1990); *East High Gay/Straight Alliance v. Bd. of Educ.*, 81 F. Supp. 2d 1166, 1182-83 (D. Utah

Establishment Clause of the U.S. Constitution's First Amendment.⁴ The EAA does not apply to elementary schools.

1. The EAA's terms

The three most important terms in the EAA are "meeting," "noninstructional time," and "non curriculum related student group." "Meeting" includes "those activities of student groups which are permitted under a school's limited open forum and are not directly related to the school curriculum." Meetings (1) must be voluntary and student-initiated; (2) must be without sponsorship from the school, the government, or its agents or employees; (3) any presence of employees or agents of the school or government must be in a non-participatory capacity; (4) cannot materially and substantially interfere with the orderly conduct of educational activities within the school; and (5) cannot be directed, conducted, controlled, or regularly attended by non-school persons. 6

"Noninstructional time" means "time set aside by the school before actual classroom instruction begins or after actual

1

^{1999).} See also, Newdow v. Rio Linda Union School Dist., 597 F.3d 1007, 1056 (9th Cir. 2010).

⁴ Bd. of Educ. v. Mergens, 496 U.S. 226 (1990); Westfield High Sch. L.I.F.E Club v. City of Westfield, 249 F. Supp. 2d 98 (D. Mass. 2003). See also, Newdow v. Rio Linda Union School Dist., 597 F.3d 1007 (9th Cir. 2010).

⁵ 20 U.S.C. § 4072(3); Thompson v. Waynesboro Area Sch. Dist., 673 F. Supp. 1379 (M.D. Pa. 1987) (holding that a gathering of junior high school students to distribute a religious newspaper in school hallways during noninstructional time does not fall within protection of Equal Access Act, because (1) distribution is not "meeting," as it is not type of activity in which student groups are already permitted to engage under school's limited open forum, and the distribution of a school newspaper as extension of English curriculum is not comparable to students' non curriculum-related newspaper distribution, and (2) "meeting" conducted by students is not voluntary in true sense of word.).

⁶ 20 U.S.C. § 4071(c); See also, Colin ex rel. Colin v. Orange Unified Sch. Dist.,

⁸³ F. Supp. 2d 1135 (C.D. Cal. 2000) (holding that non-school persons did not "direct, conduct, control" a public high school student's group seeking recognition and meeting space, merely because the group's name was recommended by national organization, or because nonstudents met with group members following their application for recognition in order to offer information and moral support.).

classroom instruction ends."⁷ In a seminal case, a court defined "noninstructional time" to include meetings during lunch time and found that a school violated a student's right in denying her religious club the opportunity to meet during lunch as other clubs were allowed to. Specifically, the court held that the lunch hour was noninstructional time within the meaning of the EAA because all students took lunch at the same time, no classes were held, and students were permitted to leave school grounds. The court found that by permitting other non curriculum related student groups to meet during the lunch hour, the school had established a limited open forum and, under the EAA, could not discriminate against the student's religious group in making school facilities available. Other federal courts have come to the same conclusion concerning noninstructional lunch periods. ¹¹

A "non curriculum related student group" is "any student group that does not directly relate to the body of courses offered by the school." More specifically, "a student group directly relates to a school's curriculum (1) if the subject matter of the group is actually taught, or will be taught, in a regularly offered course; (2) if the subject matter of the group concerns the body of courses as a whole; (3) if participation in the group is required for a particular course; or (4) if participation in the group results in academic

-

⁷ 20 U.S.C. § 4072(4); *See also, Donovan v. Punxsutawney Area Sch. Bd.*, 336 F.3d 211(3d Cir. 2003). Under the plain meaning of "noninstructional time," the court found that the high school's activity period met that definition where it fell between homeroom period and first classroom period; during the activity period, at least one non curriculum related group met and students were not allowed to leave.

⁸ Ceniceros by & Through Risser v. Bd. of Trustees, 106 F.3d 878 (9th Cir. 1997).

⁹ *Id.* at 881.

¹⁰ *Id*.

¹¹ Donovan v. Punxsutawney Area Sch. Bd., 336 F.3d 211 (3rd Cir. 2003); Doe v. Sch. Bd. for Santa Rosa Cty. 264 F.R.D. 670, 682 (N.D. Fla. 2010); Bowler v. Town of Hudson, 514 F. Supp. 2d 168, 180 (D. Mass. 2007); Colin ex rel. Colin v. Orange Unified Sch. Dist, 83 F. Supp. 2d 1135, 1142 (C.D. Cal. 2000); East High Gay/Straight Alliance v. Bd. of Educ., 81 F. Supp. 2d 1166, 1182-83 (D. Utah 1999); Chandler v. James, 958 F. Supp. 1550, 1561 at n. 16 (M.D. Ala. 1997).

¹² Bd. of Educ. v. Mergens, 496 U.S. 226, 239 (1990).

credit."¹³ A group is not curriculum-related if its function is social activity planning and does not address concerns, solicit opinions, or formulate proposals pertaining to the body of courses offered by the school. ¹⁴ Applying these criteria, courts have summarily rejected the assertion that certain student groups like the Chess Club, Key Club, and National Honor Society are curriculum related while the Christian Bible Club is not. ¹⁵ Simply because particular student clubs might advance the "overall goal of developing effective citizens . . . enable[ing] students to develop lifelong recreational interests . . . [and] enhance[ing] students' abilities to engage in critical thought processes," does not make them sufficiently related to a school's curriculum so that application of the EAA may be avoided. ¹⁶

2. Religious activity in public secondary schools cannot be prohibited simply because it might interfere with elementary school activities.

In one U.S. Supreme Court case, a religious group wanted to use school grounds for "a fun time of singing songs, hearing a Bible lesson and memorizing scripture, and religious worship." Even though the court felt the content was "quintessentially religious" and "decidedly religious in nature," it still held that the religious speech could not be excluded. The school defended its policy by claiming that allowing a religious group on school grounds violated the Establishment Clause, but the court held that "[t]he guarantee of neutrality is respected, not offended, when the Government, following neutral criteria and evenhanded policies,

^{. .}

¹³ *Id.* at 239-240; *Straights & Gays for Equality v. Osseo Area Schs.*, 471 F.3d 908 (8th Cir. 2006).

¹⁴ Straights & Gays for Equality v. Osseo Area Schs., 540 F.3d 911 (8th Cir. 2008) (holding that cheerleading and synchronized swimming are not curriculum-related).

¹⁵ Pope v. East Brunswick Bd. of Educ., 12 F. 3d 1244 (3rd Cir. 1993); Bible Club v. Placentia-Yorba Linda Sch. Dist., 573 F. Supp. 2d 1291 (C.D. Cal. 2008).

¹⁶ Mergens, 496 U.S. at 244.

Good News Club v. Milford Cent. Sch., 533 U.S. 98, 103 (2001). See also,
 Kennedy v. Bremerton School District, 4 F.4th 910 (9th Cir. 2021).
 Id. at 111.

extends benefits to recipients whose ideologies and viewpoints, including religious ones, are broad and diverse." ¹⁹

This school also contended that because they had elementary school children on campus, they had a higher duty to protect impressionable young children from a perceived government endorsement of religion. The court rejected this argument, however, finding that the Establishment Clause does not prohibit "private religious conduct during non-school hours merely because it takes place on school premises." The court also found that the danger of students misperceiving the religious event as one which the school sponsored was no greater threat than students perceiving religious hostility if the school did not allow the event ²¹

3. Religious films in public secondary schools

In another Supreme Court case, a private religious group wanted to use school grounds to present religious films.²² The court held that as long as the films were shown during non-school hours, were open to the public, and the event was not sponsored by the school, there was no danger that the district would be perceived as endorsing religion.²³

4. Advertising religious activities

Courts have also held that literature advertising these types of religious programs can be distributed throughout the school.²⁴ If the school passes out fliers for secular activities then it cannot refuse to pass out similar fliers for religious events.²⁵

Finally, elected officials and school employees are free to attend such services in their capacities as private citizens. A public

6

¹⁹ *Id*. at 114.

²⁰ *Id*. at 115.

²¹ *Id*. at 118.

²² Lamb's Chapel v. Ctr. Moriches Union Free Sch. Dist., 508 U.S. 384 (1993).

²³ Id. at 395.

²⁴ Hills v. Scottsdale Unified Sch. Dist., 329 F.3d 1044, 1055 (9th Cir. 2003).

²⁵ *Id*.

school teacher is constitutionally entitled to participate in religious club meetings after hours in the same school building in which she teaches and with some of her students.²⁶

B. Idaho law

The Idaho code states, "No state postsecondary educational institution shall take any action or enforce any policy that would deny a religious student group any benefit available to any other student group based on the religious student group's requirement that its leaders adhere to its sincerely held religious beliefs or standards of conduct."²⁷

A court entered declaratory judgment requested by three 9th grade students and their parents and found that the school district's refusal of their request for use of facilities of the secondary school within the school district during non-instructional time for purpose of Bible study and discussion, fellowship, prayer, and religious speech in non-curriculum-related purposes was a violation of the EAA.²⁸

III. Students have a right to start religious clubs on campus.

Many school administrators fear that allowing a Christian club on campus violates the "separation of church and state." In contemporary society, there is a great deal of confusion about the meaning and legal authority of this phrase.

Contrary to popular belief, the U.S. Supreme Court has never insisted that there be an impenetrable wall between church

²⁶ Wigg v. Sioux Falls Sch. Dist. 49-5, 382 F.3d 807, 815 (8th Cir. 2004) (citing Santa Fe Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Doe, 530 U.S. 290 (2000)).

²⁷ I.C. § 33-107D.

²⁸ Hoppock By and Through Hoppock v. Twin Falls School Dist. No. 411, 772 F. Supp. 1160, 70 Ed. Law Rep. 81 (D. Idaho 1991).

and state.²⁹ Indeed, the Court has never thought it either possible or desirable to enforce a government regime of total separation in order to comply with the First Amendment's Establishment Clause.³⁰ Moreover, the "[wall of separation] metaphor . . . is not a wholly accurate description of the practical aspects of the relationship that in fact exists between church and state."³¹

As a matter of law, the Constitution "affirmatively mandates *accommodation*, not merely tolerance, of all religions, and forbids hostility toward any."³² Therefore, limiting the existence or religious expression of a religious club based on a fear of violating "the separation of church and state" is clearly mislaid. Indeed, prohibiting religious clubs when other types of clubs are allowed on campus is a violation of the separation of church and state.

Over fifty years ago, the U.S. Supreme Court decided the *Tinker* case.³³ This case involved several students who were unconstitutionally suspended from school for wearing black armbands to class in protest of the war in Vietnam. "It can hardly be argued that either students or teachers shed their constitutional rights to freedom of speech or expression at the schoolhouse gates," the Court noted.³⁴ Moreover, "students may not be regarded as closed-circuit recipients of only that which the . . . [government] chooses to communicate. They may not be confined to the expression of those sentiments that are officially approved. In the

²⁹ Lemon v. Kurtzman, 403 U.S. 602, 614 (1971). See also, Freedom from Religion Foundation, Inc. v. Chino Valley Unified School District Board of Education, 896 F.3d 1132, 1148 (9th Cir. 2018).

³⁰ Committee for Public Education & Religious Liberty v. Nyquist, 413 U.S. 756, 760 (1973). See also, Winn v. Arizona Christian School Tuition Organization, 586 F.3d 649 (9th Cir. 2009).

³¹ Lynch v. Donnelly, 456 U.S. 668, 673 (1984). See also, Catholic League for Religious and Civil Rights v. City and County of San Francisco, 624 F.3d 1043, 1049 (9th Cir. 2010).

³² *Id.* (internal citations omitted) (emphasis added).

³³ Tinker v. Des Moines Indep. Cmty. Sch. Dist., 393 U.S. 503 (1968). See also, McNeil v. Sherwood School District 88J, 918 F.3d 700, 706 (9th Cir. 2019). ³⁴ Id. at 506.

absence of a specific showing of constitutionally valid reasons to regulate their speech, students are entitled to freedom of expression of their views."35

Religious speech also falls within the scope of the *Tinker* case. The Court has affirmatively established that "private religious speech, far from being a First Amendment orphan, is as fully protected under the Free Speech Clause as secular private expression."36 Privately expressed religious speech may not be constitutionally suppressed, or discriminated against, by any agent of the state on the sole reason that the speech or expression contains religious content.³⁷ Such discrimination necessarily amounts to an unconstitutional act of state sponsored hostility toward religion. ³⁸ And although religious-based speech can often be controversial and cause uneasiness among some people who hear or see it, such effects are an inadequate basis for allowing a public school to prohibit student religious expression on campus during non-instructional hours.³⁹

In addition to being constitutionally protected, the right of students to meet on campus during non-instructional school hours is protected by the Equal Access Act. 40 The Act generally provides that, "It shall be unlawful for any public secondary school which receives Federal financial assistance and which has a limited open forum to deny equal access or a fair opportunity to, or discriminate against, any students who wish to conduct a meeting within that limited open forum on the basis of the religious . . . content of the

³⁵ *Id.* at 511.

³⁶ Capitol Square Review & Advisory Bd. v. Pinette, 515 U.S. 753, 760 (1995).

³⁷See, e.g., Good News Club v. Milford Central School, 533 U.S. 98 (2001); Lamb's Chapel v. Center Moriches Unions School Dist., 508 U.S. 384 (1993); Widmar v. Vincent, 454 U.S. 263 (1981).

³⁸ See, generally, Lynch, 465 U.S. 668 (1984).

³⁹ See, e.g., Tinker, 393 U.S. at 509 ("In order for the State in the person of school officials to justify prohibition of a particular expression or opinion, it must be able to show that its action was caused by something more than a mere desire to avoid the discomfort and unpleasantness that always accompany an unpopular viewpoint.").

⁴⁰ 20 U.S.C. § 4071 (2004).

speech at such meetings." If the school allows any non-curriculum groups to meet on campus, a faith-based group must be afforded the equal access.

IV. Students can share their faith on campus.

The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled that student speech is protected by the First Amendment as long as the speech is not a material or substantial disruption.⁴¹ This means that when students can share their faith when they are outside of class.⁴² Student speech can only be restricted when it substantially interferes with school discipline.⁴³ Interference, however, does not include some students finding the speech offensive; mere discomfort at the subject matter is not sufficient to restrict student speech.⁴⁴ Finally, speech in a limited public forum may only be subject to viewpoint-neutral limitations.⁴⁵

A. Right to use religious material

It is generally recognized that high school students can distribute religious materials containing passages from religious texts. 46 Students can also use religious tracts when they share their faith because tracts and other evangelistic materials constitute constitutionally protected speech. 47 As such, the First Amendment protects a student's right to distribute religious materials on

⁴³ *Id.* at 508-09.

⁴¹ Tinker, 393 U.S. at 503 (1968).

⁴² *Id.* at 503.

⁴⁴ *Id.* at 509.

⁴⁵ Rosenberger v. Rectors and Visitors of Univ. of Va., 515 U.S. 819, 829 (1995). See also, Hills v. Scottsdale Unified School Dist. No. 48, 329 F.3d 1044, 1050 (9th Cir. 2003).

⁴⁶ Rivera v. East Otero Sch. Dist. R-1, 721 F. Supp. 1189 (D. Colo. 1989).

⁴⁷ Heffron v. Int'l Soc. for Krishna Consciousness, 452 U.S. 640, 647 (1981); Lovell v. City of Griffin, 303 U.S. 444, 452 (1938). See also, Santa Monica Food Not Bombs v. City of Santa Monica, 450 F.3d 1022, 1048 (9th Cir. 2006).

campus. 48 Religious tracts are considered pure speech, and "students are protected by the U.S. Constitution in the school environment. Prohibitions of pure speech can be supported only when they are necessary to protect the work of the schools or the rights of other students."49 In fact, a school cannot even require students to give advance notice when they plan to pass out religious tracts.⁵⁰ Further, the Fifth Circuit has held that within an open limited public forum for distribution or posting of non-school materials, distribution or posting cannot be denied solely on the basis of religious content.⁵¹ The Fifth Circuit granted the principal qualified immunity, but warned that, for future cases, the First Amendment right of students to distribute religious materials during noninstructional time when the distribution does not interfere with the work of the school or the rights of others is clearly established, and school employees who violate this right may not be protected by qualified immunity.⁵² Moreover, religious materials can be distributed on the same terms as all other nonschool materials. For example, "permitting an elementary student to distribute copies of her personal statement of faith to classmates during noninstructional time."53

It should be noted that school authorities cannot censor student publications unless they can reasonably forecast that the expression will cause a substantial disruption of school activities or will invade the rights of others.⁵⁴ However, when the expression is a school-sponsored expressive activity (such as school publication), school authorities do not offend the First Amendment

-

⁴⁸ Hemry v. Sch. Bd. of Colorado Springs Sch. Dist. No. 11, 760 F. Supp. 856
(D. Colo. 1991); Nelson v. Moline Sch. Dist. No. 40, 725 F. Supp. 965 (C.D. Ill. 1989); Rivera, 721 F. Supp. at 1189; Thompson v. Waynesboro Area Sch. Dist., 673 F. Supp. 1379 (M.D. Pa. 1987). See also, Hedges v. Wauconda Community Unit Sch. Dist. No. 118, 9 F.3d 1295 (7th Cir. 1993).

⁴⁹ *Rivera*, 721 F. Supp. at 1189.

⁵⁰ *Thomas v. Collins*, 323 U.S. 516, 540 (1945); *Burch v. Barker*, 861 F.2d 1149, 1157 (9th Cir. 1988).

⁵¹ Morgan v. Swanson, 659 F.3d 359 (5th Cir. 2011).

⁵² Morgan v. Swanson, 659 F3d 359 (5th Cir. 2011).

⁵³ M.B. ex rel. Martin v Liverpool Cent. Sch. Dist., 487 F. Supp. 2d 117 (N.D.N.Y. 2007).

⁵⁴ Tinker, 393 U.S. at 514.

by exercising editorial control over the style and content of the student speech so long as their actions are reasonably related to legitimate pedagogical concerns.⁵⁵ In that case, it is only when the decision to censor a school-sponsored publication, theatrical production, or other vehicle of student expression has no valid educational purpose that the First Amendment is so directly and sharply implicated as to require judicial intervention to protect students' rights under the Federal Constitution.⁵⁶

B. Right to speak during non-instruction time about a religious topic

If a school allows any students to speak publicly on campus about non-curriculum issues, the school cannot prohibit students from speaking about religion because it would be a violation of court precedent.⁵⁷ If a school allows any club to put on skits or lunchtime presentations, then the school must also allow students who want to put on religious skits or lunchtime presentations to do so as well.

V. Students can pray on campus.

In 1962, the U.S. Supreme Court ruled that public schools may not lead students in an official prayer at the start of each day,

_

 ⁵⁵ Hazelwood Sch. Dist. v. Kuhlmeier, 484 U.S. 260, 273 (1988); see also, Curry v. Hensiner, 513 F3d 570 (6th Cir. 2008); Arce v. Douglas, 793 F.3d 968, 982 (9th Cir. 2015); Brown v. Li, 308 F.3d 939, 947 (9th Cir. 2002).
 ⁵⁶ Id.

⁵⁷ Rosenberger v. Rectors and Visitors of Univ. of Va., 515 U.S. 819, 828-29 (1995) ("It is axiomatic that the government may not regulate speech based on its substantive content or the message it conveys . . . The government must abstain from regulating speech when the specific motivating ideology or the opinion or perspective of the speaker is the rationale for the restriction."); *Prince v. Jacoby*, 303 F.3d 1074, 1087 (9th Cir. 2002) ("While the school is certainly permitted to maintain order and discipline in the school hallways and classrooms by limiting the number and manner of both printed and oral announcements for all student groups, 20 U.S.C. § 4071(f), it may not discriminate among students based on the religious content of [their] expression.").

but that voluntary and non-disruptive prayer is protected under the Constitution.

Contrary to popular belief, students are not even forbidden from engaging in *public prayer* at school. Students may pray silently or aloud, read religious texts, or study religious materials in a non-disruptive manner when not engaged in school activities or instruction. School authorities may regulate such activities, but must do so in a manner that does not discriminate against religious expression. Public school students may engage in privately initiated, voluntary prayer throughout the school day. Indeed, students can gather and pray on school property before the school day officially begins. The school setting includes not only the classroom, but also the lunchroom, playing field, school yard, and hallways.

VI. Students may take their religious texts to school.

A. Taking a religious text to school for use during noncurricular times

The Idaho Constitution and the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution ensure the right to free speech, which includes the right of religious expression. ⁶² School officials must recognize students' constitutional rights in the school setting. ⁶³ The school setting includes not only the classroom, but also the lunchroom, playing field, school yard, and hallways. ⁶⁴ As a result, students are entitled to freely express their religious views by reading their religious texts during the school day. Like with prayers, a school can only prohibit a student reading a religious text only if it can

⁵⁹ Bd. of Educ. v. Mergens, 496 U.S. 226, 250 (1990).

⁶⁴ Tinker, 393 U.S. at 512-13.

13

⁵⁸ Tinker, 393 U.S. at 509.

⁶⁰ Herdahl v. Pontotoc County Sch. Dist., 933 F. Supp. 582, 589-590 (N.D. Miss. 1996).

⁶¹ Tinker, 393 U.S. at 512-13.

⁶² U.S. Const. amend. I; Widmar v. Vincent, 454 U.S. 263, 269 (1981).

⁶³ Tinker, 393 U.S. at 506.

show that the reading of the text "materially and substantially interferes" with the operation of the school or invades the rights of others. 65

If students are allowed to attend such lunchtime religious meetings under the Equal Access Act (see above), then they are allowed to take religious texts to school and read them during other non-curricular times of the day (recess, free time, etc.). This is consistent with the rule that if the speech involved is not fairly considered part of the school curriculum or school-sponsored activities, then it may only be regulated if it would "materially and substantially interfere with the requirements of appropriate discipline in the operation of the school."

B. Taking a Bible to school for use during class time

If the student's personal Bible reading occurs during class or other curricular time, the government has some limited authority to restrict the activity. The reason for this is that classroom activities might reasonably be perceived to "bear the imprimatur [approval] of the school." Thus, the school is able to exercise some discretion in order to avoid the appearance that it is endorsing a particular religion. 68

Many schools have implemented a silent reading period at some point during the school day. During this period, the teacher sets aside time for students to read a book of their choosing. Because it occurs in the classroom and is specifically designed to improve reading skills, schools may argue that the silent reading period is a curricular activity.

However, courts have yet to determine the exact classification of these silent reading periods. If they are found to be

⁶⁵ Id. at 509.

⁶⁶ Tinker, 393 U.S. at 509.

⁶⁷ Hazelwood Sch. Dist. v. Kuhlmeier, 484 U.S. 260, 271 (1988).

⁶⁸ *Id.* at 271; *Roberts v. Madigan*, 921 F.2d 1047, 1057 (10th Cir. 1990); *See also, Bishop v. Aronov*, 926 F.2d 1066, 1073 (11th Cir. 1991).

non-curricular time, students should absolutely be able to read their Bible as long as they do not "materially disrupt" the operation of the school. Even if these silent reading periods are classified as curricular, students may nonetheless be permitted to read their Bible if the school's silent reading policy allows students to read any *historical* or *educational* literature, or otherwise gives pupils discretion to read whatever they please. The school cannot restrict a student from reading the Bible while allowing all other literature. Such viewpoint restrictions on reading material would be evidence of a clear hostility toward religion, which is forbidden.

Discriminatory policies by schools which prevent students from reading the Bible would be an infringement on the student's religious expression. In order to justify even a content-based discrimination, the school must have a compelling state interest and the policy must be narrowly designed to achieve only that interest.⁷¹ In the absence of such a compelling interest, the school cannot restrict a student's personal Bible reading, even during a silent reading period.

Furthermore, school board districts may include "an objective study of the Bible and of religion" in a secular education program. Courts have also held that the Bible and other religious books have a legitimate place in public school libraries provided that the library's collection does not show (1) any preference for one religious sect over another and (2) any preference for religious works over nonreligious works, and vice versa. 73

_

⁶⁹ Sch. Dist. of Abington Twp. v. Schempp, 374 U.S. 203, 225 (1963).

⁷⁰ Zorach v. Clauson, 343 U.S. 308, 314 (1952). See also, Cammack v. Waihee, 932 F.2d 765, 776 (9th Cir. 1991).

⁷¹ Widmar v. Vincent, 454 U.S. 263 (1981).

⁷² Stone v. Graham, 449 U.S. 39, 42 (1980); Edwards v. Aguillard, 482 U.S. 578 (1987) (holding that the Bible can be part of a public school course so long as it is taught from a secular point of view).

⁷³ *Id.* at 1513. The Court also wrote, "In this age of enlightenment, it is inconceivable that the Bible should be excluded from a school library. The Bible is regarded by many to be a major work of literature, history, ethics,

The Idaho Code states about Bible reading in public schools: "Selections from the Bible, to be chosen from a list prepared from time to time by the state board of education, shall be read daily to each occupied classroom in each school district. Such reading shall be without comment or interpretation. Any question by any pupil shall be referred for answer to the pupil's parent or guardian."⁷⁴

VII. Students can write papers and speak on religious topics as class assignments.

According to the U.S. Department of Education guidelines on religious expression in class assignments:

Students may express their beliefs about religion in homework, artwork, and other written and oral assignments free from discrimination based on the religious perspective of their submissions. Such home and classroom work should be judged by ordinary academic standards of substance and relevance and against other legitimate pedagogical concerns identified by the school. Thus, if a teacher's assignment involves writing a poem, the work of a student who submits a poem in the form of a prayer (for example, a psalm) should be judged on the basis of academic standards (such as literary quality) and neither penalized nor rewarded on account of its religious perspective.⁷⁵

_

theology, and philosophy. It has a legitimate, if not necessary, place in the American public school library." *Id*.

⁷⁴ I.C. § 33-1604.

⁷⁵ Guidance on Constitutionally Protected Prayer and Religious Expression in Public Elementary and Secondary Schools,

https://www2.ed.gov/policy/gen/guid/religionandschools/prayer_guidance.html [This guidance has been jointly approved by the Office of the General Counsel in the Department of Education and the Office of Legal Counsel in the

The federal Ninth Circuit court upheld an Idaho school district's policy that barred school authorities from censoring students' graduation speeches presented in a forum created for student speakers to select "an address, poem, reading, song, musical presentation, prayer, or any other pronouncement of their choosing."

In *Nampa Classical Academy v. Goesling*,⁷⁷ the court held that the First Amendment's speech clause does not give Idaho charter school teachers, Idaho charter school students, or the parents of Idaho charter school students a right to have primary religious texts included as part of the school curriculum. "Because Idaho charter schools are governmental entities, the curriculum presented in such a school is not the speech of teachers, parents, or students, but that of the Idaho government" and policy prohibiting the use of such texts "does not violate the Establishment Clause, which generally prohibits governmental promotion of religion, not governmental efforts to ensure that public entities, or private parties receiving government funds, use public money for secular purposes."

VIII. Students may include religious messages in speeches delivered at school-sponsored events.

The U.S. Supreme Court has invalidated school board policies that allow school officials to invite, encourage, or

Department of Justice as reflecting the current state of the law. Dated January 16, 2020.].

⁷⁶ Doe v. Madison Sch. Dist. No. 321, 147 F.3d 832 (9th Cir. 1998), vacated and remanded en banc, 177 F.3d 789, 792 (9th Cir. 1999). See also, Goluba v. Sch. Dist. of Ripon, 45 F.3d 1035, 1036 (7th Cir. 1995) (concluding that student-initiated recitation of the Lord's Prayer immediately before the high school graduation ceremony did not represent the school and thus did not violate an injunction prohibiting school personnel from authorizing, conducting, sponsoring, or intentionally permitting prayers during the graduation ceremony). ⁷⁷ 447 Fed. Appx. 776, 778–779, 275 Ed. Law Rep. 625 (9th Cir. 2011), cert. denied, 132 S. Ct. 1795, 182 L. Ed. 2d 617 (2012).

arrange for speakers to deliver religious messages at school-sponsored events.⁷⁸ However, permitting students to independently decide whether to include religious messages in speeches delivered at such events may be acceptable. In such cases, the student speaker must be free to deliver any message, whether it be sectarian, secular, or both.⁷⁹ Federal courts are currently split on what is allowed as far as student-initiated prayer in graduation ceremonies.⁸⁰

IX. Public schools and their students can acknowledge and celebrate religious holidays.

A particularly well-known, specific issue is whether the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment to the U.S. Constitution permits public schools to display religious holiday symbols (such as Nativity scenes). For the last four decades or so,

-

⁷⁸ Santa Fe Indep. Sch. Dist. v. Doe, 530 U.S. 290, 306 (2000); Lee v. Weisman, 505 U.S. 577, 587-588 (1992).

⁷⁹ Adler v. Duval Cty. Sch. Bd., 250 F. 3d 1330, 1336-37, 1342 (11th Cir. 2001), cert. denied, 534 U.S. 1065 (2001). In Adler, the court upheld a lower court's ruling that the school board's policy of permitting a graduating student, elected by the graduating class, to deliver an unrestricted message at graduation ceremonies did not violate the Establishment Clause of the First Amendment on its face. The court ruled that the primary factor in distinguishing state speech from private speech is the element of state control over the content of the message. In distinguishing Santa Fe Indep. Sch. Dist., 530 U.S. 290 (2000), the court noted that, in Santa Fe, "the speech was 'subject to particular regulations that confine the content and topic of the student's message . . . and the policy 'by its terms, invites and encourages religious messages. . . . Those two dispositive facts are not present in [Duval County]. First, the Duval County policy does not contain any restriction on the identity of the student speaker or the content of the message that might be delivered. Indeed, school officials are affirmatively forbidden from reviewing the content of the message, and are expressly denied the opportunity to censor any non-religious or otherwise disfavored views. . . . Second, unlike Santa Fe's policy, the Duval County policy does not 'by its terms, invite and encourage religious messages. . . . On the contrary, the policy is entirely neutral regarding whether a message is to be given, and if a message is to be given, the content of that message."

⁸⁰ See Adler v. Duval County School Bd., 250 F3d 1330 (11th Cir. 2001); ACLU v. Black Horse Pike Regional Bd. of Educ., 84 F3d 1471 (3rd Cir. 1996).

the answer has been "it depends" because the U.S. Supreme Court has developed several tests for determining an answer.

It is sufficient to say that courts have upheld public school religious holiday displays that are placed alongside secular displays if the court uses the historical/traditional analysis.⁸¹ Religious symbols alongside secular symbols send the secular message of inclusion and the freedom of one to choose one's own beliefs.

X. Release time

Release for religious instruction is included in the Idaho Code:

Upon application of his parent or guardian, or, if the student has attained the age of eighteen (18) years, upon application of the student, a student attending a public school in grades nine (9) through twelve (12) may be excused from school for a period not exceeding five (5) periods in any week or not exceeding one hundred sixty-five (165) hours per student during any one (1) school year for religious or other purposes. Release time pursuant to this section shall be scheduled by the board of trustees upon application as provided herein and the board shall have reasonable discretion over the scheduling and timing of the release time. Release time pursuant to this section shall not reduce the minimum graduation requirements for accredited Idaho high schools. The provisions of this section shall not be

⁸¹ Am. Legion v. Am. Humanist Ass'n, 139 S. Ct. 2067 (2019); Lynch v. Donnelly, 465 U.S. 668 (1984); Woodring v. Jackson Cty., 986 F.3d 979 (7th Cir. 2021); Sechler v. State College Area Sch. Dist., 121 F. Supp. 2d 439 (M.D. Penn. 2000) (rejecting Establishment Clause challenge to "Winter Holidays" school display of various religious and secular items, such as various books, a Menorah, a Kwanzaa candelabra, a snowflake, etc., found to convey inclusive message rather than favoring one religion over others or favoring religion over non-religion).

deemed to authorize the use of any public-school facility for religious instruction. The board of trustees of a school district may not authorize the use of, and public-school facilities, personnel or equipment may not be utilized, to maintain attendance records for the benefit of release time classes for religious instruction. No credit shall be awarded by the school or school district for completion of courses during release time for religious purposes. At the discretion of the board credit may be granted for other purposes.⁸²

In Zorach v. Clauson, 83 public school may, but are not required to, permit release time for public school students to attend religious classes, so long as the religious classes are not on public school property and the public schools do not coerce students to attend religious instruction or punish those who do not attend. 84

⁸² I.C. § 33-519.

^{83 343} U.S. 306 (1952).

⁸⁴ See I.C. § 33-519; Idaho Admin. Code § 08.02.02.220.

PART II: PARENTS' RIGHTS

I. Constitutional rights of parents under the U.S. and Idaho constitutions

The Fourteenth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution provides that no State shall "deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law." The U.S. Supreme Court has recognized that the Due Process Clause guarantees more than simply fair process. The Due Process Clause contains an additional component that provides a heightened level of protection against any government interference when certain fundamental rights and liberty interests are involved. In *Troxel v. Granville*, a case to determine the scope of grandparent visitation rights when pitted against a parent's rights, the Court noted that the Fourteenth Amendment "liberty interest" at issue—the interest that parents had in the care, custody, and control over their children—was perhaps the oldest of any fundamental liberty interest that the Court had recognized. 86

The Court reflected back to a 1923 decision, when it determined that the "liberty" interest protected by the Due Process Clause included the right of parents to "establish a home and bring up children" and "to control the education of their own." The Court also noted as early as 1925 that a child was not simply the creature of the State and that the people who nurture the child and direct the child's destiny have the right, and the high duty, to recognize and prepare the child for additional obligations. 88

In 1944, the Court affirmed the right of parents to direct the upbringing of their children when it stated: "It is cardinal with us

_

⁸⁵ U.S. Const. amend. XIV.

⁸⁶ Troxel v. Granville, 530 U.S. 57 (2000).

⁸⁷ *Id.* at 65 (quoting *Meyer v. Nebraska*, 262 U.S. 390, 399, 401 (1923)).

⁸⁸ *Id.* at 65 (quoting *Pierce v. Society of Sisters*, 268 U.S. 510, 534-535 (1925)).

that the custody, care and nurture of the child reside first in the parents, whose primary function and freedom include preparation for obligations the state can neither supply nor hinder."⁸⁹ Finally, in recounting the history of parental authority in 1979, the Court stated, "We have recognized on numerous occasions that the relationship between parent and child is constitutionally protected."⁹⁰

The Idaho Code states:

- (1) A student's parent or guardian has the right to reasonable academic accommodation from the child's public school. Reasonable accommodation means the school shall make its best effort to enable a parent or guardian to exercise their rights without substantial impact to staff and resources, including conditions, employee working safety supervision on school premises for school activities and the efficient allocation of expenditures, while balancing the parental rights of parents guardians, the educational needs of other students, the academic and behavioral impacts to a classroom, a teacher's workload and the assurance of the safe and efficient operations of the school.
- (2) School districts and the boards of directors of public charter schools, in consultation with parents, teachers and administrators, shall develop and adopt a policy to promote the involvement of parents and guardians of children enrolled in the schools within the school district or the charter school, including:
- (a) A plan for parent participation in the schools that is designed to improve parent and teacher cooperation in such areas as homework, attendance and discipline; (b) A process by which parents may learn about the course of study for their children and

-

⁸⁹Id. at 65-66 (quoting *Prince v. Massachusetts*, 321 U.S. 158, 166 (1944)).

⁹⁰ *Id.* at 66 (quoting *Parham v. J.R.* 442 U.S. 584, 602 (1979)).

review learning materials, including the source of any supplemental educational materials; and (c) A process by which parents who object to any learning material or activity on the basis that it harms the child or impairs the parents' firmly held beliefs, values or principles may withdraw their child from the activity, class or program in which the material is used.⁹¹

II. Access to student records and information

A. FERPA

The rights of students and their parents with respect to education records, created, maintained, or used by public educational institutions and agencies are protected under federal and state law. 92 The major federal law covering the privacy of student records is the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act, 20 U.S.C. 1232(g), more commonly known as FERPA. The regulations implementing FERPA are 34 C.F.R. Part 99. Parents are entitled to access their child's records, including attendance records, test scores, grades, disciplinary records, health records, student evaluations and reports of behavioral patterns; review teaching materials, including textbooks and aids; and review each test the child takes after it is administered to the child's class.

Under FERPA, a public school may withhold a minor child's counseling records from a parent only if the records are kept in the sole possession of the counselor, are used only as the counselor's personal memory aid, and are not accessible or revealed to any other person except a temporary substitute for the counselor. FERPA give students and parents the right to:

⁹¹ I.C. § 33-6001.

⁹² Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act ("FERPA") (20 U.S.C. § 1232g).

- 1. Access students' education records, including the right to inspect and review those records.⁹³
- 2. Waive their access to the students' education records in certain circumstances.⁹⁴
- 3. Challenge the content of education records to ensure that the records are not inaccurate, misleading, or otherwise a violation of privacy or other rights. 95
- 4. Privacy with respect to such records and reports. 96
- 5. Receive annual notice of their rights with respect to education records. 97

B. Other federal laws

A number of other federal laws govern education records maintained by schools, districts, and state education agencies. Among these are:

- 1. The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) (20 U.S.C. § 1400 et seq.), which applies to the education records covered by this law. However, IDEA release and disclosure requirements are substantially identical to those in FERPA.
- 2. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) of 1996 (104 P.L. 191), which provides privacy regulations to protect patients by limiting the ways that health plans, pharmacies, hospitals, and other covered entities can use patients' personal medical information. The Privacy Rule of the law, however, provides a broad exemption for personal health information maintained in education records, which is protected under FERPA.
- 3. The Drug and Alcohol Patient Records Confidentiality Law (42 CFR Part 2), which applies to the services and treatment of records belonging to students who receive

24

^{93 20} U.S.C. § 1232g(a)(1)(A)-(B).

⁹⁴ 20 U.S.C. § 1232g(a)(1)(D).

⁹⁵ 20 U.S.C. § 1232g(a)(2).

⁹⁶ 20 U.S.C. § 1232g(b)(1).

⁹⁷ 20 U.S.C. § 1232g(e).

- assistance from programs administered by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- 4. The Richard B. Russell National School Lunch Act (NSLA) (79 P.L. 396), which restricts the release of eligibility and services information about students and families who participate in the federal free and reduced-price lunch program.
- 5. The Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment (discussed below).

PART III: EXEMPTIONS

Regarding Application of school law—Accountability—exemption from state rules, Idaho Code § 33-5210 states:

- (1) All public charter schools are under the general supervision of the state board of education.
- (2) Every authorized chartering entity that approves a charter shall be responsible for ensuring that each public charter school program approved by that authorized chartering entity meets the terms of the charter, complies with the general education laws of the state unless specifically directed otherwise in this chapter, and operates in accordance with the state educational standards of thoroughness pursuant to section 33-1612. Idaho Code.
- (3) Each public charter school shall comply with the financial reporting requirements of section 33-701, subsections 5. through 10., Idaho Code, in the same manner as those requirements are imposed upon school districts and with laws governing safety including, but not limited to, sections 33-122 and 33-130, Idaho Code, and chapter 2, title 33, Idaho Code, and rules promulgated thereunder.
- (4) Other than as specified in this section, each public charter school is exempt from rules governing school districts, which rules have been promulgated by the state board of education, with the exception of state rules relating to: (a) Teacher certification as necessitated by the provisions of section 33-5206(3) and (4), Idaho Code; (b) Accreditation of the school as necessitated by the provisions of section 33-5206(12), Idaho Code; (c)

Qualifications of a student for attendance at an alternative school as necessitated by the provisions of section 33-5208(3), Idaho Code; (d) Rules promulgated pursuant to section 33-1612, Idaho Code; and (e) All rules that specifically pertain to public charter schools promulgated by the state board of education.

Under the Protection of Pupil Rights Amendment ("PPRA") (20 U.S.C. §1232h) and 34 CFR § 98.1 et seq., no student shall be required to submit to a U.S.-Department-of-Education-funded or administered survey, analysis, or evaluation that reveals information concerning the following things (unless an exception in 20 U.S.C. § 1232h(c)(4) applies):

- 1. Political affiliations or beliefs of the student or the student's parent;
- 2. Mental or psychological problems of the student or the student's family;
- 3. Sex behavior or attitudes;
- 4. Illegal, anti-social, self-incriminating, or demeaning behavior;
- 5. Critical appraisals of other individuals with whom respondents have close family relationships;
- 6. Legally-recognized privileged or analogous relationships, such as those of lawyers, physicians, and ministers;
- 7. Religious practices, affiliations, or beliefs of the student or the student's parent; and
- 8. Income (other than that required by law to determine eligibility for participation in a program or for receiving financial assistance under such program), without the prior consent of the student (if the student is an adult or emancipated minor), or, in the case of an unemancipated minor, without the prior written consent of the parent. 98

-

⁹⁸ 20 U.S.C. § 1232h(b); 34 CFR § 98.1 *et seq.* (clarifying that the PPRA applies to only U.S.-Department-of-Education-funded-or-administered programs).

Furthermore, pursuant to the PPRA, no student shall be required to participate in the following U.S.-Department-of-Education-funded or administered activities without prior notification from the local educational agency (unless an exception in 20 U.S.C. § 1232h(c)(4) applies):

- 1. Activities involving the collection, disclosure, or use of personal information for the purpose of marketing or for selling that information (or otherwise providing that information to others for that purpose); and
- 2. Any nonemergency, invasive physical examination or screening that is: (a) required as a condition of attendance; (b) administered by the school and scheduled by the school in advance; and (c) not necessary to protect the immediate health and safety of the student, or of other students.⁹⁹

The term "invasive physical examination" means any medical examination that involves the exposure of private body parts, or any act during such examination that includes incision, insertion, or injection into the body, but does not include a hearing, vision, or scoliosis screening. 100

^{99 20} U.S.C. § 1232h(c)(2)(B)-(C).

¹⁰⁰ 20 U.S.C. § 1232h(c)(6)(B).

CONCLUSION

We would like to thank you for your time and attention to this booklet. If you have any questions, or would like to request additional copies, please contact the Pacific Justice Institute. Moreover, if you would like to inquire about legal advice or assistance with one of the issues discussed in this booklet, contact the legal department of the Pacific Justice Institute for more information.

Pacific Justice Institute P.O. Box 276600 Sacramento, CA 95827

www.pacificjustice.org

Phone: 916-857-6900 Fax: 916-857-6900